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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 
       

MIDWAY VENTURE LLC dba PACERS 

SHOWGIRLS/PACERS SHOWGIRLS 

INTERNATIONAL, a California limited 

liability company;  PETER BALOV, an 

individual; F-12 ENTERTAINMENT GROUP 

INC. dba CHEETAHS, a Nevada corporation, 

and RICH BUONANTONY, an individual. 

 

  Plaintiffs/Petitioners, 

 

vs. 

 

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, a governmental 

agency; WILMA J. WOOTEN, in her official 

capacity as Public Health Officer, County of San 

Diego; GOVERNOR GAVIN NEWSOM, in his 

official capacity as the Governor of the State of 

California; the CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT 

OF PUBLIC HEALTH, a department of the 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

Case No.: ___________________________ 

 

COMPLAINT FOR:  

 

(1)  DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE 

RELIEF; AND 

(2)  VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

(COUNTS 1-3);  

(3)  PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

(CODE CIV. PROC. § 1085)  
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State of California; and DOES 1 through 100, 

inclusive,  

 

                        Defendants/Respondents. 

_______________________________________  

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

Plaintiffs/Petitioners alleges as follows:  

PARTIES AND VENUE 

1.  At all times mentioned herein, Plaintiffs/Petitioners Midway Venture, LLC dba 

Pacers Showgirls/Pacers Showgirls International (“Pacers”) has operated within the City of San 

Diego, County of San Diego, as an adult entertainment establishment within the meaning of San 

Diego Municipal Code (SDMC) section 33.3601 et seq. under Nude Entertainment Business 

Permit number 2010022137 issued by the Chief of the San Diego Police Department. 

2.  Plaintiff/Petitioner Peter Balov, an individual, serves as the responsible managing 

officer for Pacers and serves as the qualifier for Pacers’ Nude Entertainment Business Permit. 

3. At all times mentioned herein, Plaintiffs/Petitioners F-12 Entertainment Group Inc. 

dba Cheetahs (“Cheetahs”) has operated within the City of San Diego, County of San Diego, as 

an adult entertainment establishment within the meaning of SDMC section 33.3601 et seq. under 

a Nude Entertainment Business Permit issued by the Chief of the San Diego Police Department.  

4. Plaintiff/Petitioner Rich Buonantony, an individual, serves as the responsible 

managing officer for Cheetahs and serves as the qualifier for Cheetahs’ Nude Entertainment 

Business Permit.  

5. Defendant/Respondent the County of San Diego (the “County”) is and at all times 

mentioned herein was a governmental agency operating in the State of California, County of San 

Diego, City of San Diego, and is directly responsible for the orders, actions, and directives at issue 

in this Complaint.   

6. Defendant/Respondent Wilma J. Wooten (“Dr. Wooten”) is the County’s Public 

Health Officer.  Dr. Wooten signed the orders at issue in this Complaint and Plaintiffs are informed 

and believe, and based thereon allege that Dr. Wooten is responsible for devising, enacting, 

enforcing, and interpreting the orders and directives she issues in her official capacity with the 
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County, and that she is also responsible for interpreting the orders of the State of California 

concerning the Covid-19 “stay-at-home” and closure orders as applicable to the City of San Diego 

and the County.  

7. Defendant/Respondent Governor Gavin Newsom (the “Governor”) is and at all 

times mentioned herein the Governor of California.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based 

thereon alleges that the Governor is responsible for issuing the executive orders upon which the 

County and Dr. Wooten have relied upon in exercising their authority.  

8. Plaintiffs are informed and believe that Defendant/Respondent the California 

Department of Public Health (CDPH) is an executive branch of the State of California, which is 

under the direction and control of the Governor, and is responsible for the policies upon which the 

County and Dr. Wooten have relied upon in exercising their authority.    

9.  Plaintiffs/Petitioners are ignorant of the true names and capacities of 

Defendants/Respondents sued herein as DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, and their involvement 

with the orders, actions, and directives at issue in this Complaint, and therefore 

Plaintiffs/Petitioners sue these Defendants/Respondents by such fictitious names.  

Plaintiffs/Petitioners will amend the Complaint to allege the DOE Defendants/Respondents’ true 

names, capacities, and involvement in this action when the information is ascertained.  Plaintiffs 

are informed and believe and based thereon allege that each of the DOE Defendants/Respondents 

was responsible in some manner for orders, actions, and directives at issue in this Complaint.  The 

County, Dr. Wooten, the Governor, CDPH and DOES 1-100 may sometimes be referred to herein 

collectively as “Defendants.”   

10. The San Diego Superior Court is the appropriate venue for this action because all 

of the events, orders, actions, and directives at issue in this Complaint occurred within San Diego 

County, and Defendants/Petitioners maintain offices, exercise their authority in their official 

capacities, and will enforce the orders, actions, and directives at issue within San Diego County.   

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION AND WRIT 

11. It is well settled that adult oriented nude entertainment is recognized by both state 

and federal courts as being protected by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution 
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and the California Constitution.  The First Amendment protects the right of adult entertainment 

establishments, adult entertainers and audience members to free expressive association and 

performances, subject only to reasonable and clear regulations for the preservation of public health, 

safety, welfare and morals. (City of Erie v. Pap's A.M. (2000) 529 U.S. 277, 289; Tily B., Inc. v. 

City of Newport Beach (1998) 69 Cal.App.4th 1, 10; Krontz v. City of San Diego (2006) 136 Cal. 

App. 4th 1126, 1135.)   

12. Adult entertainment establishments within the City of San Diego, such as Pacers 

and Cheetahs, that provide live nude entertainment are subject to a number of social distancing 

requirements that pre-date the various federal, state, and local Covid-19 recommendations, 

restrictions and orders that have been issued during the pandemic.  Among other rules and 

requirements, adult entertainers must stay six (6) feet or further from audience members while 

performing nude entertainment. (SDMC § 33.3610(a).)  Adult entertainers are also prohibited from 

touching any member of the audience. (SDMC § 33.3610(b).)  The failure of an adult entertainment 

establishment to enforce these restrictions can have significant and dire consequences to the 

operator of the adult entertainment establishment. (See Coe v. City of San Diego (2016) 3 

Cal.App.5th 772, 784-785.)  By the same token, adult entertainers must be licensed in the City and 

County of San Diego, and the failure of an adult entertainer to follow the requirements of the 

SDMC may result in the revocation of his or her license.  Accordingly, well before the Covid-19 

pandemic adult entertainment establishments and the adult entertainers within the City and County 

of San Diego were already well accustomed to social distancing. 

13. Consistent with the orders of the Governor Plaintiffs and the adult entertainers that 

perform at their venues dutifully complied with the “stay-at-home” orders despite the significant 

infringement upon their First Amendment rights and the significant economic consequences to 

them by being prohibited from offering such performances.  During this period, Plaintiffs patiently 

waited for guidance from state and local officials regarding when they could reopen for live adult 

performances.     

14. On or about May 7, 2020, the Governor announced that he would begin modifying 

the stay at home order to begin reopening California under what was described at the time as the 
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“Resilience Roadmap,” which set forth a four tiered system for reopening California.  Dr. Wooten, 

acting as the Health Officer for the County, would subsequently adopt and modify the State’s 

restrictions and reopening plan through an ever changing series of health orders and 

regulations.(https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/phs/community_epide

miology/dc/2019-nCoV/health-order.html.)  

15.  As of May 22, 2020, Dr. Wooten, acting as the Public Health Officer for the County 

had issued a revised order concerning the reopening of “restaurants and bars,” among the other 

businesses, venues, and facilities that were allowed to reopen.  Because Plaintiffs had onsite 

restaurants, in addition to their adult entertainment venues, Plaintiffs reached out to Dr. Wooten to 

obtain clarification as to how the County’s orders would apply to adult entertainment within the 

guidelines for reopening restaurants and bars.  The “four-tier system” for reopening California 

launched by the Governor did not address adult entertainment, nor did any of Dr. Wooten’s 

published orders.  In circular fashion, however, Dr. Wooten responded to Plaintiffs’ inquiry by 

instructing Plaintiffs to follow “the guidance from the Governor’s Office and the California 

Department of Public Health,” which provided no such guidance as related to adult entertainment.  

This placed Plaintiffs in the difficult position of having to devise their own reopening plans, which 

ultimately were based upon the reopening plans applicable to restaurants, churches, and other 

facilities where people gathered, with the added requirements of SDMC as it relates to adult 

entertainment.   

16.  On June 12, 2020, Dr. Wooten was specifically asked during a press conference if 

live music would be allowed in restaurants and bars under the County’s orders.  Dr. Wooten 

explained that it was not because it “encourages people to get up and start dancing,” and Dr. 

Wooten did not want people to engage in such activity.  Shortly after the press-conference, Dr. 

Wooten issued a revised order specifying that “[d]ance floors shall be closed and performances 

such as musical or dance acts that encourage large gatherings shall be discontinued.” (See Order 

of Health Officer and Emergency Regulation Effective June 16, 2020, at ¶ 13(g), Exhibit “A” 

hereto.)  Notably, however, the prohibition was facially inapplicable to adult entertainment as adult 

entertainers are expressly prohibited from touching patrons. 

https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/phs/community_epidemiology/dc/2019-nCoV/health-order.html
https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/phs/community_epidemiology/dc/2019-nCoV/health-order.html
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17.  Like many businesses and other venues, Plaintiffs sought to make sense of the 

restrictions and closure orders, and to this end Paces initially proposed a plan to reopen with only 

outside activity.  Consistent with the “Safe Reopening Plan” being enforced at the time, Pacers 

applied for permission to operate outdoors, and to that end submitted a detailed plan to the County 

and the San Diego Police Department, Permits & Licensing Unit seeking permission to operate 

outside.  Attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and incorporated herein by this reference is a true and 

correct copy of Pacers’ submission of its plan to operate outside.  Pacers, however, was told that 

it could not operate outside, and fearing administrative or criminal action Pacers decided not to 

reopen, despite having already rented tables and equipment for outside operations.  Other adult 

entertainment establishments, including Cheetahs, learned of the restriction and also decided not 

to submit their own plans for reopening outside for fearing similar rejection.  Significantly, 

however, Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege that at the time of the 

rejection of Pacers’ plan for outdoor adult performances, the County was allowing other businesses 

and venues to operate outside, including but not limited to churches and other venues that draw 

large groups of people.         

18.  On or about August 28, 2020, the Governor announced California’s new reopening 

plan called the “The Blueprint for a Safer Economy” (hereinafter the “Blueprint”).  The Blueprint, 

which became effective August 31, 2020, set forth four color coded tiers: yellow, orange, red and 

purple.  Yellow indicates minimal Covid-19 spread and allows for nearly all businesses to reopen 

indoor operations. Orange means that some in-door business operations can open with 

modifications.  Red means that some non-essential indoor business operations are closed.  Purple 

means there is widespread Covid-19 transmission in the county and nearly all businesses have to 

keep indoor operations closed or severely limited.  The Blueprint also provides a list of covered 

activities and businesses.  Notably, however, adult entertainment and adult entertainment 

establishments are not listed on the Blueprint and to date no specific guidance has been given to 

adult entertainers or to adult entertainment establishments regarding reopening. (See Blueprint for 

a Safer Economy Activity and Business Tiers, Exhibit “C” hereto.) 

/ / / /   
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19. The express restrictions on open dance floors and musical or dance acts remained 

in Dr. Wooten’s order until August 22, 2020. (See Order of Health Officer and Emergency 

Regulation Effective August 22, 2020, at ¶ 14(k), Exhibit “D” hereto.)  These express restrictions, 

however, were removed shortly after the Blueprint was published and after the County was 

designated as falling into “Tier 2,” i.e., the “Red Category.”  Upon entering “Tier 2,” various 

businesses arbitrarily designated “nonessential” were allowed to reopen with restrictions for inside 

operations. (See Order of Health Officer and Emergency Regulation Effective September 1, 2020, 

Exhibit “E” hereto.)   

20.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege that Dr. Wooten is 

responsible for interpreting the orders of the Governor and CDPH, which gives her substantial 

power and nearly unchecked discretion given the vagueness of the various orders of the Governor 

and CDPH.  Exercising this authority, Dr. Wooten’s orders have undergone endless and 

bewildering changes, yet none of them even attempted to address adult entertainment.  With no 

guidance as to how adult entertainment establishments fit into the tier system or Dr. Wooten’s 

various orders, Plaintiffs were again left guessing on how best to proceed with reopening.  

Nonetheless, in an effort to avoid violating any of the vague and arbitrary orders at issue, Pacers 

submitted its proposed plan to City and County officials, including Dr. Joel Day, who is leading 

the City of San Diego Covid-19 response and recovery.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and 

based thereon allege that Dr. Day works closely with the County and Dr. Wooten.  Under Pacers’ 

plan, as it pertained specifically to adult entertainment, Pacers proposed the following additional 

restrictions above and beyond those already in place under the SDMC:  

• Stages to be located on two (2) foot platforms, fifteen (15) feet from any tables.  

• Stages to be roped off with signs strictly advising patrons not to pass within the 

fifteen foot buffer.  

• Adult entertainers to perform one artist at a time per stage.  

• All stage equipment to be sanitized after a performance.  

• All performers to wear mask coverings while performing. 

• The announcer and disc jockey (“DJ”) to be located fifteen (15) feet from any 
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tables, roped off and designated for one person at a time. 

• Audio stage to be sanitized and cleaned after every daily use.  

• The announcer and DJ to wear a mask covering. 

• The announcer and DJ to issue regular reminders to patrons that they are not to 

approach performers and they are to remain seated at their tables.  

21.  After submitting its plan to Dr. Day and the County on or about August 20, 2020, 

Pacers received no input or objection from the City or County, and based upon oral discussions 

with County representatives, Pacers believed it had the County’s express, if not tacit approval, of 

its plan to allow adult entertainment.  Attached hereto as Exhibit “F” and incorporated herein by 

this reference is a true and correct copy of Pacers’ reopening plan as outlined to Dr. Day on August 

20, 2020, which Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege was communicated 

to the County.  As it is noteworthy, Pacers is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges that 

its plan for reopening was subsequently adopted by many other adult entertainment establishments 

in the city and county of San Diego.       

22.  After San Diego County officially moved into “Tier 2” and following the removal 

of the restriction on dancing from Dr. Wooten’s orders, Pacers reopened for business inside on or 

about September 3, 2020, under the plan it previously outlined to the City and County concerning 

adult entertainment.  After reopening Pacers received no complaints from the City or County, and 

more importantly no Covid-19 cases can be tracked to Pacers’ reopening.  As Pacers has done 

throughout its long tenure in the City of San Diego, it served as a model for other adult 

entertainment establishments and provided many adult performers – who had been unable to 

perform for nearly six months – a venue to perform.  

23. On or about September 18, 2020, Cheetahs reopened, complying with all of the 

requirements of Dr. Wooten’s September 1, 2020 Health Order, cited above in paragraph 17, and, 

like Pacers, no Covid-19 cases can be tracked to Cheetahs’ reopening.  

24.  On October 11, 2020, at approximately 10:00 p.m. as Pacers began to close as 

required by the restrictions applicable to restaurants, a group of young men demanded to enter 

Pacers.  They were told, however, that Pacers was closing and no one was being admitted as 
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required by Dr. Wooten’s orders requiring all restaurants to close at 10:00 p.m.  These men were 

unhappy with being told that they could not enter Pacers and they took it upon themselves to 

attempt to bypass security in order to enter Pacers.  After being thwarted in their efforts, the men 

began to congregate outside of the parking lot of Pacers and nearby a vehicle owned by a member 

of the Padres professional baseball team.  While the events of what transpired next remain unclear, 

words appear to have been exchanged between the group of men and the Padres ballplayer, which 

escalated to a violent encounter where the Padres ballplayer suffered a stab wound to his back.  

Pacers, as it has always done when contacted by the authorities, subsequently fully cooperated 

with the investigation of the San Diego Police Department.  Nonetheless, this incident resulted in 

much negative media attention toward Pacers, which included false stories regarding the operation 

of Pacers.  Among other false news reports, it was reported that Pacers was allowing adult 

entertainers to perform so-called “lap dances.”  Ironically, this incident was caused in no little part 

by the Covid-19 curfew restrictions as imposed by Dr. Wooten, which have resulted in much 

frustration by members of the public concerning their loss of liberty and freedom, and in this 

instance the ability to view live adult entertainment.     

25.  Apparently relying upon the false news reports referenced above, on October 14, 

2020, Dr. Wooten, acting in her official capacity, issued a cease and desist order to Pacers 

prohibiting Pacers from having any form of live entertainment.  Dr. Wooten threatened that any 

violation of the cease and desist order may result in criminal prosecution and monetary fines for 

each violation.  And, while Dr. Wooten acknowledged Pacers’ right to remain open solely as a 

restaurant, Dr. Wooten warned that if there were any violations of her order prohibiting live adult 

entertainment, she would issue an order closing Pacers entirely.  Significantly, Dr. Wooten 

performed no investigation into the truth of the news reports nor did Dr. Wooten contact Pacers to 

discuss its operations before issuing the cease and desist order.     

26.  On October 15, 2020, Pacers respectfully wrote to Dr. Wooten seeking clarification 

of the basis of her order prohibiting Pacers from continuing with adult entertainment.  Pacers 

further pointed out that her cease and desist order was based upon false news reports regarding the 

activities of Pacers, and that Pacers had apparently been singled out because of the unfortunate 
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event that occurred on October 11th.   Pacers made clear its desire to work with Dr. Wooten and 

the County to arrive at clear guidance from the County that would allow for the continuation of 

adult performances within San Diego County, as protected by the First Amendment.  Pacers further 

reiterated its desire to provide a safe environment for live adult entertainment.  Again, however, 

Dr. Wooten provided no clarification of her cease and desist order, nor have any exceptions been 

provided that would allow adult performances to occur under the apparent orders of Dr. Wooten.   

27.  On October 16, 2020, Pacers received a visit from Brandon Posada of the County 

of San Diego to verify that Pacers was in compliance with Dr. Wooten’s cease and desist order.  

Consistent with Dr. Wooten’s order Pacers ceased all adult entertainment at its venue, which was 

verified by Mr. Posada during his inspection.  Mr. Posada further advised that the County intended 

to closely monitor Pacers’ compliance with Dr. Wooten’s cease and desist order, and it was made 

impliedly clear that any violation would result in swift punishment.   

28. On October 20, 2020, Rich Buonantony was served with a cease and desist order 

signed by Dr. Wooten, threatening criminal charges and closure of the business for having live 

entertainment. (See Exhibit “G” hereto.)   

29. As a consequence of Defendants’ orders to cease and desist from engaging in 

activity protected by the First Amendment, Plaintiffs are and will continue to be threatened with 

criminal and civil penalties, as well as suffer a denial of due process and their civil rights on the 

basis of the enforcement of the challenged cease and desist orders if they exercise their protected 

liberties similar to other venues in San Diego County that are being permitted, implicitly or tacitly, 

to allow live performances.  Indeed, there is in effect a complete ban on live adult entertainment 

in the City and County of San Diego due to the directives of Dr. Wooten.   

30.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege that while the County 

of San Diego has prohibited Pacers and Cheetahs (and presumably other adult entertainment 

establishments) from allowing adult oriented performances under the restrictions outlined above, 

the County of San Diego has allowed, implicitly or tacitly, restaurants and other venues to have 

live music at locations such as the Inn at Rancho Bernardo, McP’s Irish Pub in Coronado, the Del 

Mar Highlands Town Center,  and Fluxx Nightclub to name just a few.  Plaintiffs are also informed 
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and believe that the County has also allowed stand-up comedy at venues such as the Comedy 

Palace and other comedy venues, as apparently these venues have the ear of council member Chris 

Cate.  By the same token, under the County’s reopening plan concerning “Tier 2,” the following 

are allowed to remain open despite the possibility of far more contact among members of the public 

than what is even conceivably possible under Plaintiffs’ reopening plan for adult entertainment:  

• Places of worship. 25% capacity or 100 people, whichever is lower.  

• Movie theaters. 25% capacity or 100 people, whichever is lower. 

• Museums. 25% capacity. 

• Gyms and fitness centers. 10% capacity. 

• Dance studios. 10% capacity. 

• Yoga studios. 10% capacity. 

• Zoos and aquariums. 25% capacity. 

• Hair salons and barbershops 

• Nail salons 

• Body waxing 

• Tattoo parlors  

• Piercing  

• Skin care and cosmetology  

31.  The limitation on allowing adult entertainment is arbitrary and capricious, and is 

discriminatory toward adult entertainment establishments and adult performers.  From the 

perspective of imposing restrictions to prevent the spread of Covid-19, Defendants have allowed 

restaurants, churches, dance studios, yoga studios, and various personal service industries to 

operate, while prohibiting Plaintiffs and adult performers from operating under much more 

stringent safety protocols, and threatening Plaintiffs with “criminal” liability for attempting to do 

so.  The order smacks of unfairness.   

32.  Moreover, the financial and non-financial losses the Plaintiffs have suffered during 

the period of time since issuance of the cease and desist orders have been substantial, and are the 

direct result of the discriminatory, irrational, and unequal restrictions flowing from Dr. Wooten’s 
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overreaching construction of the orders of Governor Newsom and CDPH.  Plaintiffs and all those 

similarly situated are not viable without adult entertainment and unless the cease and desist orders 

are immediately lifted, Plaintiffs may be required to close permanently.  Plaintiffs are and will 

continue to be threatened with criminal and civil penalties, as well as suffer a denial of due process 

and their civil rights on the basis of the enforcement of the challenged cease and desist orders if 

they exercise their protected freedoms and liberties similar to other venues in San Diego County 

that are being permitted, implicitly or tacitly, to allow live performances.  This will not only result 

in significant losses to Plaintiffs, but also to the adult performers who rely on their ability to 

perform at Plaintiffs’ venues and members of the public that seek out adult themed entertainment 

in a safe and regulated environment.  Defendants’ restrictions will in effect force adult entertainers 

to perform outside the safety of regulated venues.  Plaintiffs themselves have no adequate remedy 

at law.  No amount of money damages could adequately compensate the Plaintiffs for the 

irreparable harm described herein, specifically the deprivation of constitutionally protected 

fundamental rights.  

RELIEF SOUGHT BY PLAINTIFFS/PETITIONERS 

33.  As set forth more fully below, based upon misinformation and an ever growing 

tenancy to infringe upon the rights of the citizens of San Diego under the “Big Brother” mentality 

of Defendants, there is little doubt that Defendants have become drunk on power and run amuck 

with their expansive and overly burdensome construction of the Covid-19 related restrictions that 

trample on the liberties of Plaintiffs and the citizens of San Diego.  Justice O’Scannlain in his 

dissenting opinion in Harvest Rock Church, Inc. v. Newsom (9th Cir. 2020) --- F.3d ----2020 WL 

5835219 encapsulates this sentiment in his observation that the Covid-19 restrictions are a 

“complex morass,” which are not content neutral in their application.  The abuse of power must 

be checked and the Orwellian rules that have been imposed under the guise of “protecting” against 

transmission of Covid-19 must no longer be rubber stamped by the courts.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs 

seek, among other remedies: (1) equitable injunctive relief to enjoin the enforcement of the cease 

and desist orders; (2) declaratory relief from this Court in declaring that the orders of the State and 

County violate Plaintiffs’ civil rights under: (a) 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 of the Federal Civil Rights 
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Act, (b) Due Process and (c) Equal Protection Clauses of the 5th and 14th Amendments, (d) the 

First Amendment, and (e) Sections 1, 2, 7, 19, and 24 of Article 1 to the California Constitution; 

(3) a writ of mandate compelling the County of San Diego to issue clear guidelines to allow for 

adult entertainment; (4) attorney’s fees and costs for the reasonable and necessary legal services 

provided by Plaintiffs’ counsel, where allowed by law; and (5) for such other and further relief as 

the Court deems just and appropriate. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

(By Plaintiffs Against all Defendants and DOES 1 through 100) 

 34. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by this reference each of the allegations 

of paragraphs 1 through 33, above. 

 35. By reason of the aforementioned acts, policies, procedures, and/or orders, created, 

adopted, and enforced under color of law by Defendants and DOE 1 through 100, Plaintiffs have 

been deprived of their First Amendment rights of free speech and free expressive association.  The 

restrictions that have been imposed upon Plaintiffs lack any rational basis, are arbitrary, capricious, 

vague, overbroad, and are a palpable invasion of rights secured by fundamental law in violation of 

the Equal Protection Clause of both the United States Constitution and California Constitution.  

When the government treats an individual disparately as compared to similarly situated persons, 

and that disparate treatment burdens a fundamental right, targets a suspect class, or has no rational 

basis, such treatment plainly violates the equal protection guarantees of the Fourteenth 

Amendment. 

 36. Plaintiffs, however, are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that 

Defendants and DOE 1 through 100 contend and believe that they are within their authority to 

trample on Plaintiffs’ Constitutional rights given the orders of Governor Newsom and given their 

own claimed authority to prohibit all forms of adult entertainment, irrespective of the rights 

afforded to Plaintiffs and all those similarly situated.  As a result, an actual controversy has arisen 

and now exists between Plaintiffs, on the one hand, and Defendants and DOE 1 through 100, on 

the other hand.  Plaintiffs therefore seek a declaration of their right to allow adult themed 
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performances to occur at their venues under the ridged guidelines previously submitted by 

Plaintiffs to the County, or under those reasonable (and logical) rules and regulations Plaintiffs 

and Defendants agree may be appropriate under the circumstances.  Plaintiffs further seek a 

declaration preventing Defendants from completely prohibiting all live adult entertainment and 

requiring Defendants to provide clear guidance that would allow for live adult entertainment in the 

City and County of San Diego.  

 37. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

dispute Plaintiffs’ contentions regarding Defendants’ obligations as outlined above, and that 

Defendants intend to continue violating Plaintiffs’ rights absent a declaratory judgment and 

injunction issued by this Court.   

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

(By Plaintiffs Against all Defendants and DOES 1 through 100) 

 38. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by this reference each of the allegations 

of paragraphs 1 through 37, above. 

 39. 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 was enacted “‘to deter state actors from using the badge of 

their authority to deprive individuals of their federally guaranteed rights and to provide relief to 

victims if such deterrence fails.’” (Modacure v. B&B Vehicle Processing, Inc. (2018) 30 Cal. App. 

5th 690, 693, quoting Wyatt v. Cole (1992) 504 U.S. 158, 161.) “A claim under 42 United States 

Code section 1983 may be based on a showing that the defendant, acting under color of state law, 

deprived the plaintiff of a federally protected right.” (Id. at 694.) 

 40. The acts and orders of Defendants and DOES 1 through 100 were and are being 

performed under color of law and therefore constitute state action within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. 

Section 1983.  These actions violate Plaintiffs’ civil rights as follows:  

 Count One – Violation of the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment to the United 

States Constitution Applicable through the Fourteenth Amendment and Violation of Article 1, 

Section 2 of the California Constitution.  

 41. Plaintiffs operate venues that provides adult themed entertainment to members of 
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the public in the form of adult oriented dance performances, and the presentation of recorded music 

presented by DJs.  All such entertainment is protected by the rights of free speech and free 

expressive association.  The cease and desist orders issued to Plaintiffs expressly prohibits this 

type of speech and expressive conduct, and based upon the facts alleged above that other types of 

live performances are permitted by Defendants, implicitly or tacitly, the limitations are predicated 

upon the content of the speech and are presumptively unconstitutional. (Reed v. Town of Gilbert 

(2015) 576 U.S. 155, 163-164.)  Accordingly, the restrictions on adult performances found in the 

challenged cease and desist orders comprise an unconstitutional content-based speech prohibition. 

 Count Two – Violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to 

the United States Constitution and Violation of Article 1, Section 7 of the California Constitution.  

 42. By reason of the aforementioned acts, policies, and/or orders, created, adopted, and 

enforced under color of law by Defendants, Defendants have deprived Plaintiffs of the equal 

protection of the law guaranteed under the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment 

to the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, as well as the right to equal protection 

under the California Constitution.  As set forth in this Complaint, the applicable provisions of the 

challenged cease and desist orders deprive Plaintiffs of their fundamental rights and freedoms by 

forcing the continued prohibition on adult performances, yet providing exceptions for other 

activity and conduct that is similar, if not identical, in its impact and effects as related to the 

prevention of the spread of Covid-19.  The challenged measures lack any rational basis, are 

arbitrary, capricious, and vague, and are a palpable invasion of rights secured by fundamental law 

in violation of the Equal Protection Clause. 

 Count Three – Violation of Plaintiffs’ Due Process Rights Compromise a Taking in 

Violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Violation 

of Article 1, Section 7 of the California Constitution.  

 43. With no due process whatsoever, Defendants have denied Plaintiffs the right to 

allow adult oriented performances at their venues and have taken away property rights and liberties 

of Plaintiffs without due process of law.  Defendants, to date, refuse to even answer Plaintiffs’ 

inquiries regarding the basis of the cease and desist orders and have instead acted as one might 
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expect a monarch might act in simply issuing an order with no justification, clarification, or 

exceptions.  Plaintiffs have a fundamental and protected interest in the use and enjoyment of their 

venue.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law and Plaintiffs, as well as members of the public, 

will suffer serious and irreparable harm to their constitutional rights unless Defendants are 

enjoined from the continuous implementation and enforcement of the cease and desist order, or 

any other similar orders.    

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

WRIT OF MANDATE – CODE CIV. PROC. § 1085 

(By Plaintiffs Against the County, Dr. Wooten, and DOES 1 through 100) 

 44. Plaintiffs and Petitioners herein re-allege and incorporates herein by this reference 

each of the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 43, above. 

 45. Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1085, “[a] writ of mandate may be 

issued by any court to any . . . person, to compel the performance of an act which the law specially 

enjoins, . . . and from which the party is unlawfully precluded by that inferior tribunal, corporation, 

board, or person.”  Here, the County, Dr. Wooten, and DOES 1 through 100 are infringing upon 

Pacers’ constitutional rights, including, the freedom of speech and equal protection at its expense.  

Moreover, Defendants/Respondents have arbitrarily and discriminatorily prevented 

Plaintiffs/Petitioners from exercising their rights under the First Amendment under the guise of 

the Covid-19 safety concerns.  Consequently, Plaintiffs/Petitioners have suffered and continue to 

suffer loss of liberty and economic losses.   

 46. Plaintiffs/Petitioners have no adequate remedy at law and will suffer serious and 

irreparable harm to their constitutional rights unless Defendants/Respondents are enjoined from 

the continuous implementation and enforcement of the cease and desist order, or any other order 

they may claim gives them the right to prevent adult entertainment at Plaintiffs’ venues.  

/ / / / 

/ / / /  

/ / / /  

/ / / /   
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PRAYER 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against Defendants as follows: 

 On the First Cause of Action:  

1. For a determination of the rights and obligations of Plaintiffs as it relates to all 

issues encompassed by the dispute alleged above, and that the Court issue a declaration finding as 

follows:  

 (a) Plaintiffs are entitled to permit live adult entertainment under the reasonable 

restrictions outlined by Plaintiffs above; 

 (b) Defendants are enjoined from completely prohibiting live adult 

entertainment; and  

 (c) Recognizing that Plaintiffs’ Constitutional rights to free speech and free 

expressive conduct are not eliminated due to the Covid-19 related restrictions and pandemic.   

2. All appropriate orders to carry out the Court’s declaration of the rights of the 

parties, including injunctive relief.   

 On the Second Cause of Action:  

 1. Declare the provisions of the cease and desist orders, or any other related orders, to 

be violative of the aforementioned United States and California Constitutional provisions.  

 2. For the issuance of a Temporary Restraining Order and/or preliminary injunction 

restraining and preventing any governmental entity or law enforcement officer from applying and 

enforcing the provisions the cease and desist orders, or any other related orders, that prevent 

Plaintiffs from being allowed to provide live adult entertainment under the restrictions outlined 

above, and finding that Plaintiffs are exempt from all of the requirements of the cease and desist 

orders.  

 3. For the issuance of a Permanent Injunction restraining and preventing any 

governmental entity or law enforcement officer from applying and enforcing the provisions of the 

cease and desist orders, or any other related orders, that prevent Plaintiffs from being allowed to 

provide live adult entertainment under the restrictions outlined above, and finding that Plaintiffs 

are exempt from all of the requirements of the cease and desist orders. 
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 4. Award Plaintiffs any and all attorney’s fees and costs as authorized by law.  

 5. Award Plaintiffs any and all actual, consequential, and special damages to which 

Plaintiffs are entitled.    

 On the Third Cause of Action (Writ of Mandate):  

 1. A peremptory writ of mandate issued under Code of Civil Procedure section 1085 

compelling Defendant/Respondents to set aside their cease and desist orders, and to allow for live 

adult entertainment.  

 2. Plaintiffs/Petitioners recover their attorney’s fees, expenses and costs in this action.  

 3. Plaintiffs/Petitioners recover damages.   

 On All Causes of Action: 

1. For injunctive relief.  

2. For costs of suit and attorney’s fees.    

3. For such other and future relief as the court finds just and reasonable.   

 

Dated: October 21, 2020             VIVOLI SACCUZZO, LLP 
      
           By:    /s/ Jason P. Saccuzzo    

JASON P. SACCUZZO 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, 

MIDWAY VENTURE LLC dba PACERS 

SHOWGIRLS/PACERS SHOWGIRLS  

INTERNATIONAL, and PETER BALOV 

 

 

Dated: October 21, 2020             LAW OFFICE OF STEVE HOFFMAN 
 

      
           By:    /s/ Steve Hoffman    

STEVE HOFFMAN  

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, 

      F-12 ENTERTAINMENT GROUP INC.  
dba CHEETAHS and RICH BUONANTONY 
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